Senate Judiciary Committee
Pete Mulvey 271-4063

SB 13-FN, invalidating out-of-state driver's licenses issued to undocumented
Immigrants.

Hearing Date:  January 23, 2025
Time Opened: 1:00 p.m. Time Closed: 2:16 p.m.

Members of the Committee Present: Senators Gannon, Abbas, Altschiller and
Reardon

Members of the Committee Absent : Senator Carson

Bill Analysis: This bill invalidates out-of-state driver's licenses issued specifically
to undocumented immigrants.

Sponsors:

Sen. Gannon Sen. Lang Sen. Innis
Sen. Ward Sen. Sullivan Sen. Avard
Sen. Birdsell Sen. Rochefort Sen. Murphy
Rep. Weyler Rep. Vose Rep. L. Walsh

Who supports the bill: 11 Individuals supported SB 13. Contact
peter.mulvey@gc.nh.gov for further details.

Who opposes the bill: 145 individuals opposed SB 13. Contact
peter.mulvey@gc.nh.gov for further details

Who is neutral on the bill: One individual signed in as neutral for SB 13. Contact
peter.mulvey@gc.nh.gov for further details.

Summary of testimony:

Senator Bill Gannon
Senate District 23

e SB 13 is written to invalidate out-of-state driver’s licenses issued to undocumented immigrants.

e Sen. Gannon maintained that other states may elect to grant licenses as they please.
Accordingly, New Hampshire reserved the right to decide who accessed its roadways.

o Sen. Gannon referred to a 2020 report from the House Committee on Homeland Security which
detailed the number of undocumented migrants with criminal charges or convictions.

Page 1



Similar legislation had passed in the State of Florida without significant impact to tourism and
the larger state economy.
SB 13 served to protect granite staters from violent crime by stopping potential offenders at the
border.
Sen. Altschiller inquired about the impetus for SB 13.
o Sen. Gannon identified the 2024 election cycle and constituent petition as the primary
factors in the bill’s creation.
Sen. Altschiller expressed concern regarding SB 13’s impact upon the Interstate Driver’s License
Compact.
o Sen. Gannon identified several states detached from the compact without issue, namely
Georgia and Massachusetts.
o Despite similar legislation, Florida remained party to the compact.
Sen. Altschiller inquired on how driver data may be aggregated to inform invalidations.
o Sen. Gannon clarified that a database would be employed to cross reference collected
information with data from states known to license undocumented individuals.
Sen. Altschiller was concerned that SB 13 may encourage bias or profiling.
o Sen. Gannon employed the example of a car accident; records are checked, and questions
are asked. If you're pulled over, there may be an inquiry.
Sen. Reardon asked if a student awaiting visa renewal could see their license invalidated.
o Sen. Gannon expected such an individual to leave, and therefore the associated license
would be invalid.
Sen. Reardon maintained that amidst renewal, while an individual may lack and experience a
lapse in documentation, they are not illegally present, and asked Sen. Gannon to consider if
there were points of limbo in immigration.
o Sen. Gannon did not find there to be any state of limbo in the immigration process. and
indicated he would contemplate further.
Sen. Reardon expressed concern regarding how state troopers will be informed or encouraged to
inquire further on a driver’s immigration status.
o Sen. Gannon reiterated that a database would cross reference driver information against
data from states known to license undocumented migrants.
Sen. Reardon was curious how such a database would be created.
o Sen. Gannon said the Floridian model/methodology would be followed.
Sen. Reardon expressed concern over the lack of financial particulars and asked who was
envisioned to develop and administer said database.
o Sen. Gannon asserted it was an emergency and expressed confidence that the Senate
could find the necessary money for an appropriate vendor.

Mr. John Morasco and Ms. Jennifer Bailey

Director + Assistant Director, N.H Division of Motor Vehicles

The Division of Motor Vehicles (DMV) appeared to discuss information regarding the DMV and
its data.

Director Morasco clarified that states could deviate from the Interstate Drivers License Compact
without necessarily violating it or risking non-participation.

Ms. Bailey added that Delaware and Connecticut were all the DMV would concern themselves
with; Those were the only states issuing distinct IDs to undocumented migrants. Other states
issued typical licenses devoid of information relative to immigration status.

Page 2



e Sen. Reardon asked if the appropriate state authorities would be conferred with to inquire
further on documentation status in such a framework or if the database would be relied on for
verification.

o Ms. Bailey was uncertain and speculated that the National Crime Information Center
system, SPOTS, may be updated to contain such information.

e Sen. Altschiller was curious if there were measures to prevent erroneous arrests given New
Hampshire’s ongoing work with international ID recognition in our agricultural sector.

o Director Morasco said foreign license reciprocity was in development. The DMV also
employed industry experts to maintain oversight, verification and compliance regarding
their data and practices informed as a result.

o Director Morasco believed that for states which did not issue a distinct license to the
undocumented, that in any database such individuals would appear similarly to a
citizen. If those states failed to track or segregate that data, there are no means for us to
obtain it.

e Sen. Altschiller expressed concern over the impact non-compliance with the interstate compact
may have on reckless driver/speeding data.

o Director Morasco reiterated that states can enact measures of their own without
jeopardizing the compact. The DMV would remain privy to suspensions, arrests, and
other public safety information from other states.

e Sen. Altschiller asked if license invalidation adhered to best practices of the compact.

o Director Morasco clarified that the compact lacked a memorandum of understanding and
did not delineate what practices did or did not preclude participation.

e Sen. Gannon asked if the compact and New Hampshire’s participation within would be retained
despite the passage of SB 13.

o Director Morasco confirmed and reiterated Florida’s status of compliance per the
American Association of Motor Vehicle Administrators.

o Sen. Abbas asked if just Connecticut and Delaware had licenses distinguish driver status.

o Ms. Bailey confirmed.

e Sen. Abbas asked if the distinction was for the undocumented or non-citizens.

o Ms. Bailey clarified that distinctions were exclusively for the undocumented.

e Sen. Abbas asked if Ms. Bailey meant illegal immigrant when using the term undocumented
migrant.

o Ms. Bailey confirmed

Shari Rendall
Director, State and Local Engagement, Federation for American Immigration Reform.

e The Federation for American Immigration Reform (FAIR) is a 3-million-member non-partisan,
non-profit organization founded in 1979 to promote the reform of immigration laws for American
interests.

e FAIR, and Ms. Rendall support SB 13 and the invalidation of licenses for undocumented
migrants.

e Ms. Rendall found SB 13 productive for public safety and federal compliance.

e Ms. Rendall stated that undocumented migrants resided illegally and were subject to immediate
removal.

e Licenses aided and abetted illegal residence.

e Ms. Rendall said states which permit driver’s licenses to undocumented migrants experience
greater rates of fraud as foreign documents are easily and often forged.

Page 3



SB 13 buttressed the Real ID initiative and ensured that terrorists could not enter the country
to complete their mission.

Ms. Rendall stated that the 9/11 hijackers had dozens of ID cards enabling them to drive and
ultimately fly.

Sen. Altschiller inquired about FAIRs nativist history and the organization’s hate-group
designation from the Southern Poverty Law Center.

Grace Kindeke

Program Coordinator, American Friends Service Committee

Ms. Kindeke spoke in opposition of SB 13 on behalf of the Immigrant Rights Network.

SB 13 would not benefit New Hampshire residents, would not meaningfully improve public
safety, or address state revenues and other pertinent matters.

Ms. Kindeke herself was an undocumented migrant for several years, and considered it a
struggle to work, live, and travel. New Hampshire notably lacks public transit, and therefore,
driving is the primary mode of travel.

SB 13 promoted injustice and divided communities. Ms. Kindeke contested the use of the term
alien and asserted that all individuals were human regardless of citizenship status.

Mixed status families and communities would be undermined, negatively impacting the state’s
economy.

SB 13 encouraged law enforcement profiling.

Ms. Kindeke found New Hampshire and Florida distinct and was perplexed that they would
serve as an appropriate model.

SB 13 ran contrary to the N.H state motto and the notion of local control. The Committee was
urged to consider SB 13 inexpedient to legislate.

Gilles Bissonnette, esq.

Legal Director, American Civil Liberties Union of N.H

Ms. Bissonnette testified in opposition to SB 13.

New Hampshire lacked standing to contest the validity of documentation issued lawfully by
another state. A change of an individual’s jurisdiction or setting does not impact the validity of
their documentation issued elsewhere.

A simple border crossing may result in a class B misdemeanor despite an individual’s
achievement of documentation under the law consistent with public safety.

Mr. Bissonnette clarified that Florida was the only state known to have a similar regime in place
and discouraged its expansion.

Senator Gannon suggested that he may be jailed for a year or two in the event he entered the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts with his firearms, asserting a state’s right to issue its own
laws.

Mr. Bissonnette clarified that Massachusetts’s concealed carry restrictions, distinct from N.H,
are considered legally dubious and problematic by the N.H attorney general. Mr. Bissonnette
maintained that the inverse regarding licensure would have to apply.

While not compulsory, the idea of an interstate compact is consistency and continuity. SB 13
would be the first amendment ever to the compact since its enactment in 1986.

SB 13 would change best practices relative to freedom of movement and travel.

Mr. Bissonnette warned of negative externalities to public safety. Licenses identify people,
inform authorities of their vetted background and operative capabilities. Licensed drivers are
more likely to be insured and less likely to flee the scene of an accident.

Page 4



o If forms of licensure are criminalized, those holding such a credential are less likely to
remain and cooperate with authorities given the risk.
e Mr. Bissonnette was concerned about the lack of particulars regarding the requisite database.
Guardrails would be necessary.

Given that most states did not note immigration status on IDs, law enforcement officers may be
asked to inquire about status, which asserts potential liability upon them.

e Mr. Bissonnette observed that law enforcement agencies had not advocated for SB 13.

Sen. Gannon asked Mr. Bissonnette what recourse was available for the 2/3 of states which did

not issue licenses to undocumented individuals.

Mr. Bissonnette said states may elect to make a policy choice on the matter, which New
Hampshire had already done — New Hampshire determined that its undocumented residents
shall not be given a license.

Sen. Abbas asked Mr. Bissonnette what consequences a class B misdemeanor conviction may
have on someone and their immigration status.

e Mr. Bissonnette suggested fines up to $1200 in addition to criminal penalties, which are
significant even if they are not time spent in jail. Mr. Bissonnette speculated that there may be
deportation or removal consequences, suggesting further contemplation.

Sen. Reardon asked if the distinction between legal and illegal status was black and white or if
there were processing periods and lapsing gray areas.

e Mr. Bissonnette said legal status took a variety of forms. Regardless of status, crimes warrant
charges. Being undocumented by itself was not a crime, as adjudicated by the Supreme Court. A
lapse of status is a civil immigration violation, distinct from a crime.

Sen. Reardon speculated that in effect, SB 13 simply limited who may sit behind the wheel of a
car and did not meaningfully prevent the entry of ill-intentioned individuals.

Mr. Bissonnette confirmed Sen. Reardon’s speculation.

e Sen. Gannon asked if Mr. Bissonnette believed SB 13’s passage may provide notice to not drive
to N.H for those with the licenses in question.

e Mr. Bissonnette did not concur and concluded that SB 13 was a problematic policy.

David Trumble
Weare Resident

e Mr. Trumble spoke in opposition to SB 13.

e Mr. Trumble rejected stereotypes assuming that undocumented migrants were criminals or
dangerous.

e The committee was urged to consider and respect the legally lapsing nature of citizenship status.
Status can vary among families, while those in pursuit of renewed status or amidst a lapse are
undoubtedly working as well.

e Undocumented individuals composed 15-20% of construction laborers, 15-30% of agricultural
laborers, and 20-25% of the workforce in textiles and sanitation.

¢ Undocumented individuals were not criminals, and required to drive to work, and live as any
other American.

e New Hampshire did not take similar measures against states which are seemingly more
dangerous.

Licensed drivers are better, safer drivers. The State of California saw a 10% reduction of hit and
runs following the introduction of a non-resident driver credential.

Page 5



PM
Date Hearing Report completed: January 27, 2025

Page 6



